FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/21/2018 10:27 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

96538-2 No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondents,

v.

MULLEN TRUCKING 2005, LTD, a Canadian corporation or business entity d/b/a MULLEN TRUCKING LP; WILLIAM SCOTT and JANE DOE SCOTT, individually and the marital community composed thereof; et al.,

Appellants.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC

1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101-3292

Telephone: 206.447.4400 Facsimile: 206.447.9700

Steven W. Block, WSBA No. 24299 Christopher Rogers, WSBA 49634

WILSON ELSER LAW FIRM

I. INTRODUCTION

This is a matter of first impression in Washington.

RCW 4.22.070 mandates that fault be allocated to "every entity which caused the claimant's damage," including "the claimant, defendants, third party defendants, and entities who have been released, those who have individual defenses against the claimant, *and those who are immune* (other than under Title 51 RCW [i.e., the Industrial Insurance Act, encompassing Washington's Workers Compensation statute])." *Tegman v. Accident & Med. Investigations, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 102, 111, 75 P.3d 497 (2003) (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals issued a published ruling dated October 22, 2018 (the "Ruling") that precludes defendant motorists whom the Washington State Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") sues for damage caused by bridge strikes from raising affirmative defenses and defensive counterclaims based on WSDOT's own wrongdoing.

Appendix 1. Moreover, the Ruling creates authority that would allow WSDOT to forego maintaining bridges, posting warning signage, and properly issuing oversize load permits, all as required by law. A range of plaintiffs which have statutory immunity from liability could apply the Ruling's logic to avoid a comparative fault analysis of their own negligence.

This was not the legislature's intent in enacting RCW 46.44.020. This Court should grant review to determine whether the Ruling and its implications should remain within Washington jurisprudence.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Defendants/petitioners Mullen Trucking 2005, Ltd, William Scott ("Scott") and Jane Doe Scott (collectively, "the Mullen Defendants") respectfully petition the Court pursuant to RAP 13.4 for review of the Ruling. The Ruling affirmed the trial court's orders granting WSDOT's motion for partial summary judgment finalized on December 15, 2016. Appendix 2.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

liability for payment of damages for bridge strikes. However, the courts below extended that immunity by ruling "that the amount of WSDOT's recovery in this matter may not be reduced by WSDOT's degree of fault in causing the subject bridge collapse, if any; and defendants' collective liability to WSDOT, if any, may not be diminished by any finding of fault on WSDOT's part in causing the subject bridge collapse." Did the courts below err by enlarging RCW 46.44.020 to preclude defendants' assertion of affirmative defenses?

2) Did the Court of Appeals err by concluding that two statutes addressing parallel concerns indicate legislative intent that courts may not consider the State's culpability in causing a bridge collapse despite Washington's comparative fault regime under RCW 4.22.070?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 23, 2013, truck driver Scott, employed with defendant Mullen Trucking 2005, Ltd. ("Mullen"), was transporting an oversize load on I-5. CP 458, 472. A tractor trailer operated by third-party defendant Motorways Transport, Ltd. ("Motorways") improperly overtook Scott's truck within the Bridge, causing Scott to veer into the Bridge's shoulder and strike its structural girders. CP 48, 474. A Bridge span collapsed into the Skagit River. CP 446, 476.

In advance of the transport, WSDOT issued to Scott and Mullen a Special Motor Vehicle Oversize/Overweight Permit that stated "Max Dimensions" of "Width 11ft 6" and "Height 15ft 9". CP 472, 533. Scott measured his load to confirm its 15'9" height before departing. CP 472.

The Bridge's road lanes narrowed from the standard 12'0" width to 11'4" at the point of impact within the right shoulder. CP 473. These narrow lanes and shoulders violated nationally adopted design standards. The U.S. Federal Highway Administration had deemed the Bridge "functionally obsolete." CP 476-77. The Bridge's overhead clearance

lowered to below 15'9" in the shoulder space. CP 475. No road signage warned of the narrowing lanes or lowered clearance. CP 477-78, 572-99 (especially CP 596). Thus, Scott was not alerted to safe passage points through the Bridge by signage or the permitting process. CP 473, 475, 596.

The State instituted this action to recover damages related to the Bridge's repair. The Mullen Defendants' answer includes indemnity cross claims; a third-party action against Motorways; and the following affirmative defense: "2) Plaintiff's damages, if any, were caused, wholly or partially, by its own negligence, breach of contract, violation of statute or regulation, and/or other wrongdoing, such that Answering Defendants are not liable therefor." CP 25. The Mullen Defendants also interposed a defensive counterclaim against the State specifying it:

... seeks no monetary relief in excess of that which may be awarded to the plaintiff. Mullen seeks a whole or partial reduction, or recoupment, of the plaintiff's claims, based on the plaintiff's contributory negligence, violation of statute or regulation, and/or other wrongdoing, but no affirmative damages above and beyond.

CP 126. The State brought a direct action against Motorways. CP 43-62. Thus, allocation of fault amongst the defendants/third-party defendant is at issue.

The State filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Re: RCW 46.44.020 seeking a determination it "... cannot be held financially responsible for any portion of the damages that resulted from Defendant William Scott's May 23, 2013 single-vehicle collision with the Skagit River Bridge." CP 139. On October 6, 2016, the trial court granted that motion, ultimately (after reconsideration) ruling:

...The Washington State Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") may not be held liable or financially responsible for any portion of the damages that resulted from the subject May 23, 2013 bridge collapse.

The Court further rules that the amount of WSDOT's recovery in this matter may not be reduced by WSDOT's degree of fault in causing the subject bridge collapse, if any; and defendants' collective liability to WSDOT, if any, may not be diminished by any finding of fault on WSDOT's part in causing the subject bridge collapse. RCW 46.44.020 provides in pertinent part that "no liability may attach to the state ... by reason of any damage or injury to persons or property by reason of the existence of any structure over or across any public highway where the vertical clearance above the roadway is fourteen feet or more ..." The Court interprets this statute to ensure that the State shall not be held liable for any of the proven damages in the event of a strike to a bridge over fourteen feet high regardless of whether its own fault contributed to the strike. ...

CP 1317-18. The Court ruled as follows from the bench at oral argument:

[G]enuine issues of material fact have been raised on the other two prongs that are argued -- both the warning signs in terms of the narrowing lanes, and shoulder, and clearance, and also the permitting process which could have, especially in today's modern technology of

computers, immediately identified the load size that's requesting the permit and recognizing the need perhaps for that load to travel other than in the right lane. ...

.... I just want to make those additional findings so any reviewing court has a sense of what I have found from the information before me.

Transcript of Proceedings, copies of relevant pages are attached at Appendix B to the Mullen Defendants' Motion to Modify Ruling Denying Discretionary Review (RAP 17.7), filed May 18, 2017, at 33-34. Thus, the trial court barred the Mullen Defendants from pursuing their Affirmative Defense No. 2 and defensive counterclaim while finding they potentially have merit. The Court of Appeals granted discretionary interlocutory review, and affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), this Court should accept review because the Ruling conflicts with its existing precedents, and based on substantial public interests.

A) Summary of Argument

RCW 46.44.020 shields the State from liability to motorists for damages resulting from strikes to bridges over fourteen feet high.

However, the courts below concluded that RCW 46.44.020 also bars a defendant motorist from demonstrating the State's wrongdoing as a

contributing factor of a bridge strike in defending against the State's action to recover bridge repair costs.

As no party alleges the State is "liable" for the subject bridge strike, RCW 46.44.020 is inapplicable. The Mullen Defendants should be allowed to demonstrate, pursuant to RCW 4.22.070, how the State's own fault caused or contributed to its damages so as to reduce or negate their liability by way of a purely defensive counterclaim. Affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals found "…a legislative determination that all financial responsibility for damage to the Skagit River Bridge must be borne by negligent motorists and none may be shifted to the State. An allocation of fault under RCW 4.22.070 would shift a portion of financial responsibility to the State in contravention of RCW 46.44.020."

The State has duties to provide reasonably safe roadways for the traveling public. A jury could conclude that although the Bridge was over 14 feet high, the State negligently failed to address inherent dangers by its permitting process and/or failure to post signage. The three statutes at issue can be harmonized in a manner that would not enlarge the meaning of "liability" to supplant Washington's comparative fault statute.

B) Argument

1) WSDOT's Failure to Implement Adequate Permitting Procedures

WSDOT's role is to "provide a timely and efficient permitting process to safely move these large and heavy loads on the state's highway system. And it's to protect the motoring public and also protect our infrastructure in Washington State." CP 1030. RCW 46.44.010, .020, .030 and .090, and WAC 468-38-050, address permitting requirements for vehicles exceeding 14' in height, 8'6" in width, or 53' in length. WSDOT was aware it needed a more effective warning system. CP 796-98. A jury could conclude WSDOT breached its duty to improve its permitting process, and that this failure caused or contributed to the accident.

2) WSDOT's Failure to Provide Adequate Signage

In *Lucas v. Phillips*, 34 Wn.2d 591, 595, 209, P.2d 279 (1949), this Court held that municipalities must maintain warning signs when either "(a) prescribed by law, or (b) the situation is inherently dangerous or of such a character as to mislead a traveler exercising reasonable care." The Bridge's conditions were inherently dangerous and misleading. WSDOT failed to provide any warning signage despite the Bridge's functionally obsolete nature; and multiple strikes to the Bridge during the preceding nine years. In *Owen v. Burlington Northern & Santa Fe Railroad Co.*, 153 Wn.2d 780, 790, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005), this Court found a

governmental entity negligent for failing to remediate known dangerous conditions where, as here, it had an array of remedial measures at its disposal. "[A]s the danger [at a particular roadway] becomes greater, the [municipality] is required to exercise caution commensurate with it." *Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle*, 153 Wn. App. 890, 907, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009). WSDOT did not install vertical clearance signage near the Bridge. CP 730-32.

3) RCW 4.22 Requires Analysis of the State's Fault

"RCW 4.22.070(1) is applicable '[i]n all actions involving *fault* of more than one entity. . . ." *Price v. Kitsap Transit*, 125 Wn.2d 456, 461, 886 P.2d 556 (1994) (emphasis in original). "In an action based on fault seeking to recover damages for . . . harm to property, any contributory fault chargeable to the claimant diminishes proportionately the amount awarded as compensatory damages for an injury attributable to the claimant's contributory fault, but does not bar recovery." RCW 4.22.005.

Again, RCW 4.22.070 mandates that fault be allocated to "every entity which caused the claimant's damage," including "the claimant, ... and those who are immune ..." Tegman, 150 Wn.2d at 111(emphasis added).

RCW 4.22.070(1) provides that the "claimant or person suffering personal injury or incurring property damage" is an "entit[y] whose fault

shall be determined. . . . " By initiating this fault-based action to seek recovery based on the fault of more than one entity, the State established itself as an "entity" within RCW 4.22.070(1).

RCW 4.22.015 provides the only definition of "fault" within RCW 4.22, and Washington courts apply it. *Tegman*, 150 Wn.2d at 109. Under RCW 4.22.015, fault "includes acts or omissions . . . that are in any measure negligent or reckless . . . [, and an] unreasonable failure to avoid an injury or to mitigate damages." *Welch v. Southland Corp.*, 134 Wn.2d 629, 634, 952 P.2d 162 (1998) ("RCW 4.22.070 provides for apportionment of liability '[i]n all actions involving *fault* of more than one entity" RCW 4.22.015, in turn, defines *fault* as 'acts or omissions . . . that are in any measure *negligent* or *reckless* toward the person or property of the actor or others. . . ."") (emphasis in original).

4) RCW 46.44.020 and .110

RCW 46.44.110, entitled "Liability for damage to highways, bridges, etc.," defines the extent oversize load operators may be liable to the State for bridge strikes:

Any person operating any vehicle ... upon any public highway in this state or upon any bridge ... is liable for that the ... bridge... may sustain as a result of any illegal operation of the vehicle This section applies to any person operating any vehicle or moving any object or contrivance in any illegal or negligent manner or without a special permit as provided by law for vehicles, objects,

or contrivances that are overweight, overwidth, overheight, or overlength. Any person operating any vehicle is liable for any damage to any public highway, bridge, elevated structure, or other state property sustained as the result of any negligent operation thereof. . . [emphasis added]

The language "... liable for any damage to any ... bridge ... sustained as the result of any negligent operation thereof" imposes a negligence standard, but does not supplant the comparative fault doctrine. In Washington, comparative fault is an implicit consideration in any negligence analysis. RCW 4.22.005, .070.

RCW 46.44.020, entitled "Maximum height—Impaired clearance signs," provides: "[N]o *liability* may attach to the state . . . by reason of any damage or injury to persons or property by reason of the existence of any structure over or across any public highway where the vertical clearance above the roadway is fourteen feet or more . . ." (emphasis added).

Thus, RCW 46.44.110 defines a motorist's liability to the State for bridge strikes, and RCW 46.44.020 defines the State's liability to motorists for bridge strikes.

5) <u>RCW 46.44.020 Does Not Insulate WSDOT from "Fault," Only "Liability" and "Financial Responsibility," which are Distinct Concepts</u>

The courts below conflated the concepts of "liability" and "fault." RCW 46.44.020 addresses only the State's "liability" for bridge strike

accidents, and is not concerned with "fault" that might be ascribed to the State in a comparative fault analysis. They ruled that because RCW 46.44.020 ostensibly protects the State from "financial responsibility," it also is insulated from any ascription of "fault" related to a bridge collapse. Courts in Washington and around the country hold that a party, though immune from liability, may be held to be at "fault."

The legal concepts of "fault" and "liability" are significantly distinct. "Fault," as defined by RCW 4.22.015, is as an element of liability:

... acts or omissions, including misuse of a product, that are in any measure negligent or reckless toward the person or property of the actor or others, or that subject a person to strict tort liability or liability on a product liability claim. ... Legal requirements of causal relation apply both to fault as the basis for liability and to contributory fault.

RCW 4.22 provides no different definition of "fault." "[I]mmune entities can be capable of fault." *Humes v. Fritz Cos., Inc.*, 125 Wn. App. 477, 491, 105 P.3d 1000 (2005) (also holding that although "[s]overeign immunity protects the Tribe from being subject to suit or incurring liability, . . . it does not render the Tribe incapable of fault.").

RCW 4.22.070 confirms this reading, as only entities immune under RCW 51 and those incapable of fault are not ascribed degrees of fault. RCW 4.22.070(1); *Price*, 125 Wn.2d at 463. WSDOT is neither.

The statute makes clear that although no judgment may attach to entities "immune from liability," those entities may nonetheless be held at "fault" for a portion of the resulting damage. RCW 4.22.070(1). Thus, even an immune claimant's "fault" should be included in the damages allocation under a comparative fault analysis. Thus, while RCW 46.44.020 might immunize the State from liability, it does not insulate the State from inclusion in a RCW 4.22.070 comparative fault analysis.

6) <u>The Ruling Violates Canons of Statutory Construction and</u> Conflicts with Precedents

The Court of Appeals departed from this Court's precedents requiring courts to harmonize statutes before applying other cannons of statutory construction. The rulings below disregard decisions that considered whether the fault of entities protected from liability under sovereign immunity must be allocated.

The Court of Appeals essentially ruled that RCW 46.44.020, when read in coordination with RCW 46.44.110, creates an exception to Washington's broad waiver of sovereign immunity, as "[t]he legislature has the authority to define the parameters of any cause of action, including claims that may be asserted against the State." Ruling at 7. It adopted the State's position that RCW 46.44 "constitutes a legislative decision to restrict claims, and by extension, a contributory negligence affirmative

defense, against the State arising out of vehicular damage to a State-owned bridge as long as the State has provided at least 14 feet of vertical clearance." *Id* at 8.

By construing RCW 46.44.020 as "both a sword and a shield," the Court of Appeals ignored existing precedents. It did not properly harmonize the two provisions of RCW 46.44 with RCW 4.22.070. Rather, it implicitly found – with no stated analysis – that RCW 46.44 irreconcilably conflicts with RCW 4.22.070, such that the more specific 46.44 ostensibly defeats the more general 4.22.070. Ruling at 12. This analysis is improper.

As this Court has ruled, "where one statute deals with a subject in general terms, and another deals with a part of the same subject in a more detailed way, the two should be harmonized if possible." *Highee v. Shorewood Osteopathic Hosp.*, 105 Wn.2d 33, 37, 711 P.2d 306, 309 (1985). Proper statutory construction easily harmonizes RCW 46.44 and RCW 4.22.070 through their plain language. As an immune entity, WSDOT's fault is allocated, but judgment is not entered against it. *Ottis Holwegner Trucking*, 72 Wn. App. at 118; *Humes*, 125 Wn. App. at 491 ("[T]he Tribe's sovereign immunity does not bar the allocation of fault to it in a negligence action against the Fritz defendants.").

WSDOT's fault can and must be allocated. The concept of "no liability may attached to the State" even when interpreted in conjunction with the concept that a motorist "is liable for all damages that the ... bridge... may sustain as a result of any illegal operation of the vehicle," is not irreconcilable with Washington's comparative fault statute. The latter clause would not impose liability on a motorist to the extent illegal operation of his/her vehicle did not cause or contribute to the damage, such that entities whose fault did cause damage must be considered. Of course, if the Bridge damage resulted 100% "as a result of any illegal operation of the vehicle," then no comparative fault would be ascribed to the State. However, no previous application or legislative history of RCW 4.22.070 suggests the legislature intended the extreme effect of holding a motorist liable for bridge damages his/her wrongful operation of a vehicle did not cause.

The Court of Appeals implies that because WSDOT has no duty, it cannot be allocated fault. It relied on *Smelser v. Paul*, 188 Wn.2d 648, 659, 398 P.3d 1086 (2017), which held that a father owes no duty of care to his child, and therefore, could not be held negligent. Because the father did not breach any legal duty, no fault could be allocated to him. The Court of Appeals analogized the father to WSDOT to find contributory

fault inapplicable. Ruling at 12-13. However, *Smelser* did not hold that parental immunity bars consideration of contributory fault.

While recognizing that "[t]he State has a common law duty to maintain roads in a condition safe for ordinary travel," the Court of Appeals disregarded *Smelser*'s warning that "immunity" not be conflated with the lack of tort duty. Ruling at 11-12. It further disregarded this Court's distinction between "[j]uridical beings capable of fault, but excused for policy reasons from incurring liability" and "beings or objects incapable of fault." *Price*, 125 Wn.2d at 463. WSDOT is an entity capable of fault but immune from liability for policy reasons. It is not an entity incapable of fault.

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