# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/22/2019 2:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96538-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent,

v.

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

6

were enacted pursuant to this constitutional grant of authority to the Legislature. *Mullen*, 5 Wn. App. at 793-94, ¶ 16, 17.

less than fourteen feet, if impaired clearance signs of a design approved by the state department of transportation are erected and maintained on the right side of any such public highway in accordance with the manual of uniform traffic control devices for streets and highways as adopted by the state department of transportation under chapter 47.36 RCW. If any structure over or across any public highway is not owned by the state or by a county, city, town, or other political subdivision, it is the duty of the owner thereof when billed therefor to reimburse the state department of transportation or the county, city, town, or other political subdivision having jurisdiction over the highway for the actual cost of erecting and maintaining the impaired clearance signs, but no liability may attach to the owner by reason of any damage or injury to persons or property caused by impaired vertical clearance above the roadway.

#### (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeals correctly read RCW 46.44.020 as showing a clear legislative intent to eliminate any state liability for damages that resulted from Mullen's oversized load striking the cross-supports on the Skagit River Bridge, which was more than 14 feet in height. The Court properly rejected Mullen's and Motorways' interpretation of RCW 46.44.020, which would have rendered the highlighted language meaningless by attaching liability to WSDOT through an allocation of fault under RCW 4.22.070. *See Taylor v. City of Redmond*, 89 Wn.2d 315, 319, 571 P.2d 1388 (1977) (courts must not construe statutes so as to nullify, void, or render meaningless or superfluous any actions or words).

### C. The Unequivocal Language of RCW 46.44.110 Makes Mullen and Motorways "Liable for All Damages" That Resulted From Their Negligent or Illegal Destruction of the Skagit River Bridge

The Court of Appeals properly held that RCW 46.44.110 unambiguously indicates the Legislature's intent to make a person who damages a bridge liable for "all damages." That statute provides:

Any person operating any vehicle or moving any object or conveyance upon any public highway in this state or upon any bridge or elevated structure that is a part of any such public highway is liable for all damages that the public highway, bridge, elevated structure, or other state property may sustain as a result of any illegal operation of the vehicle or the moving of any such object or conveyance or as a result of the operation or moving of any vehicle, object, or conveyance weighing in excess of the legal weight limits allowed by law. This section applies to any person operating any vehicle or moving any object or contrivance in any illegal or negligent manner or without a special permit as provided by law for vehicles, objects, or contrivances that are overweight, overwidth, overheight, or overlength. Any person operating any vehicle is liable for any damage to any public highway, bridge, elevated structure, or other state property sustained as the result of any negligent operation thereof. When the operator is not the owner of the vehicle, object, or contrivance but is operating or moving it with the express or implied permission of the owner, the owner and the operator are jointly and severally liable for any such damage. Such damage to any state highway, structure, or other state property may be recovered in a civil action instituted in the name of the state of Washington by the department of transportation or other affected state agency. Any measure of damage determined by the department of transportation to its highway, bridge, elevated structure, or other property under this section is prima facie the amount of damage caused thereby and is presumed to be the amount

recoverable in any civil action therefor. The damages available under this section include the incident response costs, including traffic control, incurred by the department of transportation.

(Emphasis added.) Liability explicitly attaches to the negligent operation of overheight "vehicles, objects, or contrivances" that causes damage to a public bridge.

The Court of Appeals correctly read RCW 46.44.020 and .110 together, 6 concluding that they unambiguously

(1) limit vehicle height and require a vehicle's owner to operate due care as to the vertical clearance; (2) declare that "no liability may attach to the state" where it has provided at least 14 feet of clearance; and (3) assign to a negligent motorist liability for "all damages" to a public highway or bridge.

Mullen, 5 Wn. App. at 797, ¶ 23.

D. The Court of Appeals Appropriately Rejected Mullen's and Motorways' Request to Apportion Fault to the State Under RCW 4.22.070, Because Doing So Would Allow Liability to Attach to the State in Conflict With RCW 46.44.020 and Would Reduce the State's Recovery of Damages to the Bridge, in Whole or in Part, Rendering RCW 46.44.110 Meaningless

Mullen contends that, "[a]s no party alleges the State is 'liable' for the subject bridge strike, RCW 46.44.020 is inapplicable." Mullen Pet. for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As noted above, in footnote 3, RCW 46.44.020 and .110 were enacted in the same year, in the same subchapter of the same bill. It is presumed that statutes relating to the same subject and passed during the same legislative session are imbued with the same spirit and actuated by the same policy, and are to be construed together. *Knack v. Dep't of Retirement Sys.*, 54 Wn. App. 654, 661, 776 P.2d 687 (1989).

Review at 7. The Court of Appeals recognized the obvious error in this reasoning:

But, reducing the State's recovery would, in fact, shift a degree of liability of the State contrary to RCW 46.44.020. Apportioning fault to the State would also relieve the negligent motorist of its liability for "<u>all</u> damages" under RCW 46.44.110.

*Mullen*, 5 Wn. App. at 797, ¶ 23 (emphasis in original). The Court correctly concluded that "because the motorist liability statutes specifically relieve the State of liability under the factual circumstances of this case, and assign all liability to the negligent motorist, these statutes, and not RCW 4.22.070, govern." *Id.* at 797,  $\P$  24.7

In concluding that the motorist liability statutes, RCW 46.44.020 and .110, specifically address liability in the circumstances of this case, which involves damage to a state bridge, the Court followed well-settled rules of statutory construction in determining that when one statute is specific and the other is general, the specific statute controls, regardless of when it was enacted. *See Mullen*, 5 Wn. App. at 797-98, ¶ 25, citing *Residents Opposed to Kittitas Turbines v. State Energy Facility Site* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Court of Appeals thus identified the conflict between RCW 46.44.020 and .110, on one hand, and RCW 4.22.070, on the other. Applying RCW 4.22.070 in this case could relieve Mullen and Motorways from some portion of their liability, which directly conflicts with the statutory mandate in RCW 46.44.020 and .110 that the vehicle operators, and not the State, are liable for all damages to the bridge caused by their negligence. Because there is a conflict, it was appropriate for the Court of Appeals to proceed to apply the "general-specific rule" of statutory construction. *See Univ. of Washington v. City of Seattle*, 188 Wn.2d 823, 833, 399 P.3d 519 (2017).

Evaluation Council (EFSEC), 165 Wn.2d 275, 309, 197 P.3d 1153 (2008). See also Knack, 54 Wn. App. at 661 (it is presumed that statutes relating to the same subject should be construed together). The Court of Appeals' decision does not, in any way, conflict with any decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals and, therefore, review is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

E. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied This Court's Decision in *Smelser v. Paul* in Concluding That RCW 46.44.020 and .110 Did Not Create an Immunity for the State, but Instead Eliminated the State's Liability and Imposed Liability on Mullen and Motorways to Pay All Damages

Mullen also argues that the Court of Appeals improperly relied upon this Court's recent decision in *Smelser v. Paul*, 188 Wn.2d 648, 657, 398 P.3d 1086 (2017), which held that a father owes no duty of care to his child and, therefore, could not be held negligent. *See* Mullen Pet. for Review at 15-16. Mullen's contention that *Smelser* did not hold that parental immunity bars consideration of contributory fault (Pet. at 16) is inaccurate and inapposite. The crux of the *Smelser* decision was that, because a parent owes no duty, that parent cannot be at fault. *Smelser*, 188 Wn.2d at 657. Because the father owed no legal duty, no fault could be allocated to him under RCW 4.22.070. *Id.* at 656.

Mullen and Motorways imply that, because a prior case referred to the non-liability provision in RCW 46.44.020 as an immunity, the use of that nomenclature was somehow binding on the Court of Appeals below. See Motorways Pet. for Review at 7-8 (citing Otis Olwanger Trucking v. Moser, 72 Wn. App. 114, 863 P.2d 609 (1983) (referring to RCW 46.44.020 as rendering the State statutorily immune from liability)). However, that prior reference is of no consequence in this case. Before this Court's decision in *Smelser*, a plethora of decisions had referred to the non-liability of parents as "parental immunity." See, e.g., Zellmer v. Zellmer, 164 Wn.2d 147, 188 P.2d 497 (2008); Stevens v. Murphy, 69 Wn.2d 939, 421 P.2d 668 (1986); Delay v. Delay, 54 Wn.2d 63, 337 P.2d 1057 (1957). Yet, the longstanding characterization of this doctrine as an immunity did not prevent this Court from refining its analysis and carefully explaining that courts should not confuse "immunity" with the lack of tort duty. Mullen, 5 Wn. App. at 798-99, ¶ 27, citing *Smelser*, 188 Wn.2d at 653-56.

The Court of Appeals accurately determined that the effect of the non-liability language in RCW 46.44.020 is to eliminate any tort duty or liability on the part of the State for injuries caused by bridges with a vertical height clearance of 14 feet or more. Contrary to petitioners' contention, this provision, when read together with the language in RCW 46.44.110, makes Mullen and Motorways liable for "all damages" that resulted from the

overhead bridge strike that destroyed the Skagit River Bridge. RCW 46.44.020 creates a rule of liability, not immunity. *See New York State Thruway Auth. v. Maislin Bros. Transport, Ltd.*, 35 A.D. 2d 301, 315, NYS 2d 954 (1970) (statute prohibiting operation of vehicles on public highways with a height in excess of 13-1/2 feet subjected a transport company to absolute liability for damage to a bridge caused by a vehicle with a height greater than was statutorily permitted).

In addition, the inapplicability of RCW 4.22.070 and the imposition of all damages on a specific defendant is not unique to the circumstances of this case. Existing case law precludes an allocation of fault under RCW 4.22.070 when a statute imposes liability on a specific defendant to pay all damages. This is because that defendant's proportionate share of damages is the full amount. *Johnson v. Recreational Equip., Inc.*, 159 Wn. App. 939, 952-53, 247 P.3d 18 (2011) (comparative fault system adopted pursuant to RCW 4.22.070 did not impliedly repeal preexisting provision of the products liability statute, RCW 7.72.040(2)(e), under which a seller of a defective product under its own brand name is liable for 100 percent of damages resulting from the defective product and therefore no allocation of fault under RCW 4.22.070 is allowed).

### F. Motorways Misinterprets and Misconstrues the Court of Appeals' Decision in an Effort to Assert an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

In addition to the arguments made by both Mullen and Motorways under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), Motorways also seeks review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, the public interest that Motorways asserts does not exist either under their analysis or the holding of the Court of Appeals.

First, Motorways contends that the Court of Appeals' reading of RCW 46.44.020 means the statute can also apply to vehicles, like Motorways' truck, which was under 14 feet tall and which did not hit the bridge. *See* Motorways Pet. for Review at 16-18.8 This characterization of the Court of Appeals' opinion misconstrues the Court's holding. In *Mullen*, 5 Wn. App. at 799, ¶28, the Court of Appeals was careful to limit its holding to the State's claim that Motorways drove its truck negligently by overtaking Mullen's truck on a narrow bridge, proximately causing Mullen to strike the overhead supports on the bridge that were above 14 feet. CP at 910, 1149. Specifically, the court held: "Because this claim concerns damage, by reason of the existence of any structure over or across any public highway," RCW 46.44.020 applies. *Id.* at 799, ¶28. RCW 46.44.020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It is difficult for the State, and likely this Court, to fully analyze the errors alleged by Motorways in the decision of the Court of Appeals below, given the absence of any citation to the pages of the Court's opinion to which Motorways is actually referring. *See* RAP 13.4(b), (c)(4) (citation to Court of Appeals decision).

does not impose liability on Motorways, it eliminates the State's tort liability for this crash.

Moreover, the primary basis of the Court of Appeals ruling was that RCW 46.44.110 makes Mullen and Motorways liable for all damages in this case. Motorways argues that the Court of Appeals erred in considering RCW 46.44.110 and that this Court should ignore that statute. Motorways Pet. for Review at 19. There was no error. The Court of Appeals properly applied that statute when it held that "apportioning fault to the State would also relieve negligent motorists (Mullen and Motorways) of liability for 'all damages' under RCW 46.44.110" *Mullen*, 428 P.3d 401 at 406 [¶ 23].<sup>9</sup>

The Court of Appeals decision is carefully tailored to the narrow facts of this case, subjecting Motorways to liability and all damages that resulted from its negligence in forcing Mullen's truck to strike the support arches of the Skagit River Bridge, which had a vertical clearance of 14 feet and 8 inches. *See* RCW 46.44.020, .110.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Regardless of whether RCW 46.44.020 and .110 are read together to (1) statutorily preclude an allocation of fault under RCW 4.22.070, or (2) to negate the State's duty to persons who strike a bridge with a vertical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This result is entirely consistent with established Washington law that there may be more than one proximate cause of an injury or event. *See* WPI 15.01.01.

clearance of 14 feet or more, or (3) to impose absolute liability for all damages on persons who cause damage to a bridge in such a manner as occurred in this case, the result is the same—Mullen and Motorways are liable for all damages that resulted from their negligent destruction of the Skagit River Bridge and they are precluded from reducing those damages.<sup>10</sup>

The Legislature made a policy decision to place the financial responsibility for overhead bridge strikes on a person/corporation that is physically in control of the over-legal-height load—the one entity who actively decides what speed, route, direction, and travel lane their load will be in as it approaches a bridge. The Legislature decided that commercial trucking companies, and not Washington taxpayers, will bear the financial brunt of damages caused when their over-legal-height load hits the overhead structure of a bridge. <sup>11</sup>

The reasoning of the Court of Appeals is sound, and it fully effectuates the unambiguous language and intent of the Legislature as set forth in RCW 46.44.020 and .110. The Court of Appeals' decision is fully consistent with long-settled rules of statutory construction and controlling

 $^{10}$  As the State noted to the Court of Appeals, pursuant to WAC 468-38-050(5) (App. 2), operators of over-sized vehicles accept liability for any damages resulting from the use of that vehicle. *See Mullen*, 5 Wn. App. at 795 n.4, ¶ 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As noted above at footnote 5, *supra*, article II, section 26 of the Washington Constitution grants authority to the Legislature to so limit state liability.

precedent, and it implicates no issue of substantial public interest. The Petitions for Review should be denied.